1958

# Heber W. Glenn v. Rena S. Player : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought by the plaintiff and appellant against the defendant and respondent for specific performance of an agreement for the sale of real property dated February 11, 1932 (Tr. 21), Exhibit 3-P.) Said agreement is designated as a Sales Contract and is executed by C. F. Player and Serena Player, his wife, as sellers and Heber W. Glenn as buyer. It describes certain real property situated in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, consisting of approximately 13 acres of land about a mile and a half

west of Redwood Road and about a mile south of 48th South St. (Tr. 17). The purchase price is at the rate of \$200.00 per acre and payable \$1000.00 paid by the buyer at the time of the execution of the agreement, receipt of which is acknowledged and \$600.00 on or before May 11, 1942 and the balance of the purchase price on or before Aug. 11, 1942. The agreement also contains the following agreement: "It is understood and agreed by both the sellers and the buyer that the buyer at his option, when he has paid \$100.00 more than is sufficient to cover the full payment, at the rate of \$200 per acre on either of the above tracts of land as described, may enter onto said tract of land, *fully paid for*, and take possession and receive clear title thereto *and such action shall not alter in any way the balance of the contract.*" (Exhibit 3-P.)

That subsequent to the 11th day of February, 1942, the plaintiff entered into possession of the said real property and removed gravel therefrom. (Tr. 19, 35 and 36)

That on May 10, 1942 the plaintiff offered to the sellers the balance of the purchase price and requested a deed and abstract of the property (Tr. 23, 29) and sellers failed to comply with said request.

Subsequently on the 7th day of May, 1951 the said C. F. Player died and the defendant was appointed executrix of the estate of C. F. Player (Tr. 48) and the real property described in said agreement was distributed to the defendant herein under the estate of C. F. Player deceased.

That at no time, either during the life of C. F. Player or since his death, was the plaintiff served with any kind of notice of cancellation of the contract. (Tr. 28, 55)

That during the lifetime of the said C. F. Player the plaintiff made other visits to the Player home to settle the agreement and to obtain a deed to the premises. (Tr. 30)

That subsequently on Feb. 3rd, 1949 the plaintiff had the said agreement recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, State of Utah in Book 660, page 123. (Tr. 31)

That on March 29th, 1956 tender was made by the plaintiff through his attorneys to the defendant by registered mail of the balance of the purchase price and a request for a conveyance of said real property. (Tr. 32)

That at no time has the defendant offered to refund the money paid on the agreement (Tr. 52) or give a deed on said real property (Tr. 53).

That the plaintiff did not file a claim in the estate of C. F. Player and proceeded with his action for specific performance of the agreement, after the distribution had been made to the defendant herein, against the defendant.

The plaintiff now appeals from the decree of the trial court dismissing the plaintiff's complaint and declaring that the plaintiff has no right, title or interest in the real property described in the agreement nor in the Sales agreement dated Feb. 11, 1942.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

The Appellant and Plaintiff respectfully submits five points:

### POINT ONE

Contract is entitled to be specifically enforced by the application of established principles or rules of equity designed for the administering of justice.

### POINT TWO

Delay in performance of contract is not enough to defeat specific performance.

### POINT THREE

Part performance entitled vendee to specific performance of contract.

### POINT FOUR

Optional part of agreement should be enforced as a matter of right.

### POINT FIVE

Purchaser not required to file a claim against estate of C. F. Player.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

The appellant is entitled to a decree of specific performance of the agreement if the application of established principles or rules of equity designed for the administering of justice are applied.

## 49 Am. Jur. Specific Performance Sec. 9 (page 17)

“As a general rule it may be said that when the party seeking specific performance of a contract establishes the existence of a valid binding contract which is definite and certain in its terms and contain the requisities of mutuality of obligation and is one which is free from unfairness, fraud or overreaching and enforceable without injustice upon the party against whom enforcement is sought, the court will, when the remedy at law for the breach of such contract is inadequate and the enforcement of specific performance will not be inequitable, oppressive or unconscionable, or result in undue hardship, grant a decree of specific performance as a matter of course or right.

Rights of the plaintiff to such relief where he makes a case coming within these equitable rules is not dependent upon any exercise or discretionary power on the part of the court in the literal sense of the term.”

Bennett vs. Moon, 110 Neb. 692, 194 N.W. 802,

Let us look at the agreement in controversy described as “Sales Contract.” It is entered into by and between C. F. Player and Serena Player, his wife as Sellers and Heber W. Glenn as Buyer; the said Serena Player being the defendant and respondent in this action and the said Heber W. Glenn being the plaintiff and appellant. The real property to be sold is adequately described. The acreage of approximately 13 acres is stated. The purchase price is at the rate of \$200 per acre and payable \$1000.00 in hand paid by the buyers, the receipt of which is acknowledged, \$600.00

on or before May 11, 1942 and the balance of the purchase price on or before Aug. 11, 1942. In fact in excess of 33 1/3% of the purchase price was paid at the time of the execution of the sales contract.

The "Sales Contract" is a valid binding contract which is definite and certain in its terms and contains the requisites of mutuality of obligation and there has been no evidence introduced which would infer that it was unfair or fraudulent, and certainly the buyer indicated his good faith in the purchase in paying a substantial part of the purchase price upon the execution of the contract.

65 A.L.R. page 8, *Specific Performance as Matter of Right*

"When a party to a contract appeals to a court of equity for a decree for specific performance, he addresses himself to what is termed the 'judicial discretion' of the court.

"The question whether a contract will be specifically enforced will be determined by the application of established principles or rules of equity designed for the administering of justice and which are appropriate to the circumstances of the particular case. Primarily the contract sought to be enforced should be definite and legally binding upon the parties, and its enforcement should be practical and equitable."

L'Engle vs. Overstreet 61 Fla. 653, 55 So. 381.

"The jurisdiction of a court of equity in decreeing a specific performance of an agreement, is a peculiar jurisdiction in the exercise of which that

forum becomes of its own inherent strength, a court of conscience.”

Hudson vs. King. 2 Heisk. (Tenn.) 560.

“It is said to be a discretionary jurisdiction, not indeed, or arbitrary or capricious discretion, dependent upon the mere pleasure of the judge, but of that sound and reasonable discretion which governs itself, as far as it may, by general rules and principles but at the same time which withholds or grants relief according to the circumstances of each particular case, when these rules and principles will not furnish any exact measure of justice between the parties.”

McNeil vs. McNeil, 61 Utah 141, 221 Pac. 988, which states:

“The right to specific performance depends not upon hard and fast rules according to which all cases are to be decided, but each is dependent upon its own peculiar facts and circumstances.”

Halloran Judge Trust Co. vs. Heath, (Utah) 258 Pac. 342.

65 A.L.R. page 14. Meaning of term “discretion”

“Specific performance of a contract to convey real estate will not be arbitrarily denied by the court, but only the exercise of a sound judicial discretion, in harmony with established principles and rules of equity.”

Griffin vs. Nash, 187 Iowa 345, 174 N.W. 233.

Roberts vs. Braffett 33 Utah 51, 92 Pac. 789.

65 A.L.R. page 39.

“The inadequacy of the legal remedy to enforce a contract for the sale of land is assumed in every case where no objection is made thereto, and specific

performance of the contract follows as a matter of course.”

Cummings vs. Nielson, 42 Utah 157, 129 Pac. 619.

“Warren vs. Goodloe, Ky. 20 S.W. 2nd 278 holds that where a contract for the sale of land is fairly made, it is the duty of the court to enforce it. Where the contract sought to be enforced specifically concerns land the jurisdiction to enforce specific performance is undisputed and does not depend upon the inadequacy of the legal remedy in the particular case.”

“Specific performance of a contract for the sale of land is a matter of right where it appears that the land sold for its actual value, that the sale was bona fide, that timely legal tender was made of the entire purchase price and performance was demanded.”

Beheret vs. Myers 240 Mo. 58, 144 S.W. 824.

May we again call the court's attention to the fact that on May 10, 1942 the plaintiff offered to the sellers the balance of the purchase price and requested a deed and abstract of the property. (Tr. 23, 29)

That during the lifetime of the said C. F. Player the plaintiff made other visits to the Player home to settle the agreement and to obtain a deed to the premises. (Tr. 30)

That on Mar. 28, 1956 tender was again made and a request for conveyance. (Tr. 32)

## POINT TWO

Delay in performance of contract is not enough to defeat specific performance.

49 Am. Jur. Sec. 73, page 89. Specific Performance.

“Although it is universally recognized that inexcusable laches or default on the part of the party seeking such relief will be a sufficient ground for the denial of the relief, the vendor, to make the plaintiff’s delay available as a defense, must have performed or been ready and willing to perform all the terms of the contract stipulated for on his own part.”

Tate vs. Pensacola Gulf Land and Dev. Co. 37 Fla. 439, 20, 542.

Leaf vs. Codd, 41 Idaho 547, 240 Pac. 593.

49 Am. Jur. Sec. 74, page 90.

Delay alone is not enough.

Wilson vs. Holub, 202 Iowa 549, 210 N.W. 593

Delay caused by the acts of the defendant will not constitute laches.

Davis vs. Gray 16 Wall 203, 21 L ed 447,

Hallin vs. Rogers 176 F 709, 34 Lra 120

A plaintiff is not chargeable with laches until he has knowledge, that his rights under a contract are being disputed by the other party.

De Cordova vs. Smith 9 Tex. 129, 55 Am. Dec. 136.

49 Am. Jur. Sec. 75, page 92. Period Constituting Laches:

“What length of time will constitute such laches as to bar recovery in a suit for specific performance depends upon many circumstances and rests largely in the sound discretion of the court. The lapse of time must be so great, and the relations of the defendant to the right such, that it would be inequitable to permit the plaintiff to assert such right.”

Easkin vs. Wycoff, 118 Kan. 168, 234 P. 63

“What is a reasonable time within which to file a bill for specific performance cannot be fixed with precision by any general rule, but such delay as raises a presumption that the party has abandoned the contract is considered the equivalent to consent to its rescission.”

De Huy vs. Osborne 96 Fla. 435, 118 So. 161

Chabot vs. Winter Park Co. 34 Fla. 258, 15 So. 756

“Thus it follows that delay of a few months may constitute laches, and the decisions refusing specific performance include periods of from a few to many years and it has been granted following delays as long as 35 years.”

In Craig vs. Leiper 2 Yerg. (Tenn) 193, 24 Am. Dec. 479, Where it appears that delay has been by the consent of both parties and occasioned by the vendor's failing to obtain the legal title, specific performance has been decreed notwithstanding a lapse of thirty years from the making of the contract.

49 Am. Jur. Sec. 76, page 93. “In order for delay in seeking specific performance to constitute laches it must have been prejudicial to the defendant.”

Oliver vs. Poulos 312 Mass. 188, 44 N.E. 2nd 1,

65 A.L.R. 55. “But mere delay in performance of a contract will not ordinarily preclude a decree for its specific performance, where acquiesced in by the other party.”

Many cases cited.

Laches due to the act of the defendant will not preclude specific performance in behalf of the plaintiff.

Zempel vs. Hughes 235 Ill. 424, 85 N.E. 641.

“If the delay upon the part of the vendee is attributable to the conduct of the vendor, it will not stand in the way of a decree for specific performance of the contract in behalf of the vendee.”

Howard vs. Moore 4 Sneed (Tenn) 317.

“Delay by the vendee in paying the purchase price, where the vendor takes no steps to forfeit the vendee’s rights under an executory contract for the purchase of land, will not preclude relief in behalf of the vendee who has paid a large share of the purchase price.”

Lewis vs. Wellard, 62 Wash 590, 114 Pac. 455.

## 81 C.J. Sec. page 639, Specific Performance

“Where time for performance is not essential the mere lapse of time does not necessarily bar plaintiff from relief. No rule with respect to the length of the delay which will be fatal to relief can be laid down, but each case must depend on its peculiar circumstances. A delay will not deprive plaintiff of relief if he has never abandoned the contract and the defendant has suffered nothing from the delay for which he cannot be compensated in the decree.”

Yates vs. American Republics Corp. 163 F2nd 178

Garbis vs. Weistock 51 A 2nd 154, 187 Md. 549.

4. Now, let us apply the foregoing to the facts in the present case.

The plaintiff offered to the sellers the balance of the purchase price on May 10, 1942 (Tr. 23, 29) and made other attempts to obtain the deed (Tr. 30) and the defendant as one of the sellers was not ready or willing to perform her part of the contract.

The plaintiff is not chargeable with laches until he has knowledge that his rights are being disputed by the other party. At no time, during the life of C. F. Player or since his death, was the plaintiff served with any kind of notice of cancellation of the contract. Tr. 28, 55)

At no time could it be presumed that plaintiff had abandoned the contract, in view of his substantial down payment, (See exhibit 3 P ), the fact that he recorded the contract on Feb. 3, 1949 (Tr. 31) and also made tender of payment to the defendant (Tr. 32)

Certainly the delay has been by the consent of both parties and would have been paid on May 10, 1942 if the vendors had delivered title.

The Roberts vs. Braffett case, 33 Utah 51.

A contract for the sale of real estate entered into in March 1902 called for performance the following October by the payment of the price and the execution of the deed. The purchaser paid a part of the price, but failed to pay the balance due in October. The vendor frequently thereafter

demanded payment and notified the purchaser to pay or the contract would be rescinded. The plaintiff claimed that notwithstanding his delay and neglect, he is entitled to have the contract specifically enforced because the defendant made no tender of a deed and therefore did not put the plaintiff in legal default.

The case of Roberts vs. Braffett is an analysis of the law which particularly affects many aspects of the present case. May we call the Court's attention to the fact that in the Sales Contract there is no reference to time being the essence of the contract. (See Exhibit)

Justice Straup in his opinion makes this statement:

"It may be conceded that the stipulations and provisions contained in the contract were mutual, concurrent and dependent. It may also be conceded that time was not of the essence of the contract as originally made." He then refers to Pomeroy on Specific Performance of Contract, Section 395 (2d Ed.)

"As the doctrine that time is not essential in the performance of the contract may sometime work injustice, and be used as the excuse for unwarrantable laches, the following rule was introduced at a comparatively late period and is now firmly settled, which prevents the doctrine from being abused by the neglect or willfulness of either party. If either the vendor or the vendee has improperly and unreasonably delayed in complying with the terms of the agreement on his side, the other party may, *by notice*, fix upon and assign a reasonable time for complet-

ing the contract, and may call upon the defaulting party to do the acts to be done by him, or any particular act within this period. The time thus allotted then becomes essential and if the party in default fails to perform before it has elapsed, the court will not aid him in enforcing the contract, but will leave him to his legal remedy."

At Section 396 Pomeroy says: "That the notice cannot be arbitrary and a sudden termination of the contract; it must allow a reasonable length of time for the other party to perform and if it fails in any of these respects it may be disregarded and will produce no effect upon the equitable remedial rights of party to whom it is given; and that to be effectual in making the time allotted an essential element of the performance the notice must be express, clear, distinct, and unequivocal."

The defendant admits in her testimony that no notice of cancellation was ever given. (Tr. 28, 56)

At Sections 361 and 362 Pomeroy points out the distinction between granting specific performance of contracts when time is and when not, made essential. He says:

"Where the stipulations are mutual and dependant—that is, where the deed is to be delivered upon the payment of the price, either on a day named or without any day being specified, an actual tender and demand by one party is absolutely necessary to put the other in default and to cut off his right to treat the agreement as still subsisting. So long as neither party makes such tender—of the deed by the vendor

and of the price or securities by the vendee—neither party is in default; the contract remains in force and either party may make a proper tender or offer and sue.”

### POINT THREE

Part performance entitled vendee to specific performance of contract.

65 A.L.R. page 63. “An exception to the rule that a court will not enforce an inequitable contract is that where the defendant has received the consideration and retains it and alleges as a ground for not being required to perform that performance would be inequitable under the circumstances the court will decree performance without inquiry into the question.”

Indianapolis Northern Traction Co. vs. Essington 54 Ind. App. 286 99 N.E. 757, 100 N.E. 765.

“Where it is shown that there has been part performance of the contract under circumstances which affect the conscience of the defendant and his failure to carry out the contract would operate as a fraud upon the plaintiff’s right, a decree of specific performance will be granted as a matter of right.”

Tidewater R. Co. vs. Hurt 109 Va. 204, 63 S.E. 421

West vs. Bundy 78 Mo. 407

Dougherty vs. Harsel, 91 Mo. 161, 3 S. W. 583

Anderson vs. Scott 94 Mo. 637, 8 S. W. 235

49 Am. Jur. Sec. 76, page 94

“The purchaser in a contract for the sale of land has been held not to be precluded, however, from maintaining a suit for its specific performance because the land has increased in value, where such increase has taken place after he has paid a part of the purchase price and the delay in offering to pay the balance is neither unreasonable nor due to bad faith.”

Harris vs. Greenleaf, 117 Ky. 817, 79 S.W. 268, 4 Ann. case. 849

In the case before the Court, it will be remembered that the buyer had paid as a down payment in excess of one-third of the purchase price. The defendant admits that the payment was received and that she has retained it. (Tr. 52)

In Roberts vs. Braffett 33 Utah page 91 Chief Justice McCarty in his dissenting opinion makes the following statement and reference; which is significant to this portion of this case:

“It is a well established doctrine that before a party will be permitted to rescind his contract he must account or offer to account to the other party for the money, if any, paid in part performance of the contract. In the case of Frnik vs. Thompson this same principle of law was involved and in the course of the opinion the court says:

“There is yet another reason why plaintiff cannot have this contract rescinded. It appears from the complaint that soon after making the contract

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