1958

## Heber W. Glenn v. Rena S. Player : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“Within six years: (after accrual of a cause of action)

\* \* \* \* \*

(2) An Action upon any contract, obligation or liability founded upon an instrument in writing  
-----” (must be commenced.)

It seems superfluous to state that the plaintiff brought his action on a written contract; that his cause of action accrued in 1942; and that he has not brought his action within six years as the statute requires.

It also seems superfluous to state that the statute is not limited in its application to matters arising at law but the general language also encompasses actions in equity. Although there appears to be no direct case on this subject in Utah, this Court's language in *Smith vs. Smith*, 77 U 60, 291 Pac. 298, indicates this Court's acceptance of the application of the statute to equitable matters. In an earlier



case, wherein the plaintiff was attempting, through equity, to impress a transaction with a trust, this Court stated:

“There is therefore no question of an express trust in this case, and the statute of limitations is applicable here precisely as in any other fiduciary relations out of which constructive or implied trusts arise. In all such cases the statute begins to run from the time that the complaining party discovered the wrongs complained of or when he was apprised of such facts and circumstances with respect thereto as would put a person of ordinary intelligence and prudence upon inquiry. The law is stated to that effect by this court in the case of *Gibson vs. Jensen*, 48 Utah, 248, 158 Pac. 426, and in *Salt Lake City vs. Investment Co.*, 43 Utah, 181, 134 Pac. 603. If therefore the facts and circumstances which came to the knowledge of the plaintiff corporation were such as would have caused a person of ordinary prudence and intelligence to act, then it should have acted, and the statute of limitations was set in motion as to it. This is so quite apart from the doctrine of laches which is always an important element in actions like the one at bar and which is relied on by defendants.”

The Oklahoma Supreme Court in *Thompson vs. Rosehill Burial Park, et al*, 60 Pac. 2d 756, in discussing the application of the statute of limitations to an action for specific performance stated:

“The action is of equitable cognizance, and the defendants have pleaded the statute of limitations. The trial court held that the statute of limitations interposed by the defendants was applicable and rendered judgment for the defendant. Actions for specific performance of a contract to convey an interest in real estate, unless there is

fraud or unusual circumstances, would justify the suspense of the application of the statute of limitations -----, must be brought within five years. See *Wilson vs. Bombeck*, 38 Oklahoma 498, 134 Pac. 382; *Hurst et al, vs. Hannah et al*, 207 Oklahoma 3, 229 Pac. 163.”

Kentucky has announced the same rule. See *Knappp et al vs. Read*, 21 S.W. 2nd 705. See also *Church et al, vs. Winton et al*, 46 *Atlantic* 363 and *Pepper et al, vs. Truitt et. al.*, (CCA 10), 158 *Federal* 2d 250.

It seems to us, therefore, the plaintiff's cause of action is directly barred by the statute of limitations.

## POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFF HAS ABANDONED, FORFEITED AND RELINQUISHED HIS RIGHTS IN THE CONTRACT AND THE PROPERTY.

As found by the trial court, the plaintiff entered into possession of the property at the time the contract was executed in February of 1942. He immediately commenced the removal of gravel and remained in possession until the final payment was due on the contract. The trial court further found that in August, 1942, the plaintiff relinquished possession of the property and has not been in possession nor has he removed gravel since that date.

On the other hand, the defendant, through her son, managed the property and farmed it each of the intervening fourteen years. The possession of the property by the defendant during this entire period has been open and exclusive.

These facts can lead to only one reasonable conclu-

sion, that is, that the plaintiff in the year 1942 intended to abandon the property and in pursuance of this intent, relinquished possession of the property. In addition, he paid no payments for taxes or otherwise and remained indicatively silent for fourteen years.

These facts are very clear and persuasive that the plaintiff abandoned the property and his rights in the contract.

In *Glotzer vs. Keyes*, 125 Conn. 227, 5 A. 2d 1, the Connecticut Court made a scholarly summation of the rule of abandonment, and in so doing, stated:

"To constitute an abandonment there must be an intention to abandon or relinquish accompanied by some act or omission to act by which such intention is manifested. *Stevens vs. Norfolk*, 42 Conn. 377, 384; *Collins vs. Lewis*, 111 Conn. 299, 303, 149 A. 668; 1 C.J.S., Abandonment, p. 8, par. 3. While mere nonuse and lapse of time alone are not enough to constitute abandonment, they are competent evidence of an intent to abandon, and as such may be entitled to great weight when considered with any other circumstances, and abandonment may be inferred from circumstances, such as failure by acts or otherwise to assert any claim to the right alleged to have been abandoned, or may be presumed from long continued neglect. *New York, N.H. & H.R. Co. vs. Cella*, supra, page 522, 91 A. 972; *Town of Derby vs. Alling*, 40 Conn. 410, 436; 1 Am. Jur. p. 11; *Keane vs. Canovan*, 21 Cal. 291, 303, 82 Am. Dec. 738. Most frequently, where abandonment has been held established, *there has been found present some affirmative act indicative of an intention to abandon*, as in *Peck vs. Lee*, supra, page 377, 148 A. 133, where it was found that the mortgagee had de-

stroyed the mortgage and the note which it secured, but nonuser, as of an easement, or *other negative or passive conduct may be sufficient to signify the requisite intention and justify a conclusion of abandonment*. The weight and effect of such conduct depends not only upon its duration but also upon its character and the accompanying circumstances. *Raritan Water-Power Co. vs. Veghte*, 21 N.J. Eq. 463, 480. *McArthur vs. Morgan*, 49 Conn, 347, 350, sustained a finding as a fact that a right to use water power of a stream in connection with a mill site, *as to which there had been for eight years no manifestation of an intent to utilize it, had been abandoned*. See, also, *Banks vs. Judah*, 8 Conn. 145, 161." (Emphasis supplied)

Text writers have announced:

"In the absence of a default of one party which gives the other party a right to elect to rescind, unless a land contract is voidable when made, for fraud, mistake, duress, undue influence, infancy, mental incompetency, etc., the same principle which requires the assent of both parties to the making of the contract of sale ordinarily requires the assent of both parties to its change or extinguishment. It is, however, competent for the parties, as in case of other contracts, to change or extinguish a contract of sale of real property by subsequent mutual assent. A mutual agreement to rescind may be found if, after breach or abandonment by one party, the other by word or act declares the contract rescinded. *It has been said that no mode of terminating the equitable interest of the purchaser can be more perfect than a voluntary relinquishment by him of all rights under the contract, and a voluntary surrender of the possession to the vendor.*" See 55 Am. Jur. P. 579. (Emphasis supplied)



In addition, this Court, in an action pertaining to the surrender of an option, has announced approval of the rule in *18 Am. and Eug. Enc. L.* 362, which reads:

“An actual and continued change of possession by the mutual consent of the parties will operate as a surrender by operation of law, though there was no express agreement of the parties that it should so operate.” See *K. P. Mining Co. vs. Jacobsen*, 32 U 115, 83 Pac. 728.

Based upon the facts here found by the trial court, it is manifest that an abandonment has been executed and that by reason thereof, plaintiff has relinquished all of his rights in the property and the contract.

### POINT III.

THE PLAINTIFF WAIVED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE CONTRACT BY NOT FILING A CLAIM OR DEMAND FOR PERFORMANCE IN THE PROBATE PROCEEDING OF C. F. PLAYER.

The fee owner of the real property in February, 1942, was C. F. Player, the now deceased husband of the defendant. The defendant for the ensuing nine year period was not a joint tenant nor a tenant in common with C. F. Player and consequently had no direct affirmative interest in the property. Her only interest in the premises, as a matter of law, was her inchoate rights preserved to a widow under the provisions of the Utah Statutes.

Therefore, in February, 1942, Mrs. Player was not in the ordinary sense, a seller, for her inchoate interest by the nature of things, was not capable of conveyance but only release.

That was all that she contracted to sell under the agreement of February 11, 1942, for that was all she possessed. This seems self evident if we could reflect for a moment on the nature of a proceeding brought timely under these same facts. If C. F. Player was not made a party to an action brought during his life for specific performance, and only Mrs. Player were joined, what relief could be obtained? Could the Court, under such circumstances, order Mrs. Player to convey? Obviously not. This distinction and the nature of the estate held by Mrs. Player therefore comes into focus. She did not agree to convey the property—because she couldn't have—she didn't own it. Her husband was the person who owned the property and is the person who would have had to have made conveyance. Such was the status of the parties to the date of C. F. Player's death.

Nine years after the date of the contract, in the probate proceeding, Mrs. Player elected to relinquish her statutory right and to take the property pursuant to the provisions of her husband's will.

Pertinent sections of the *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953, provide as follows:

*Section 75-11-26:* "When a person, who is bound by contract in writing to convey any real estate or who is bound by contract in writing to assign, transfer or deliver any personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action, dies before making the conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery; and in all cases when such decedent, if living, might be compelled to make such conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery, the court may make a decree authorizing and directing his executor or administrator to convey

such real estate, or to assign, transfer, or deliver such personal property, shares of capital stock, bonds or other choses in action, to the person entitled thereto."

*Section 75-11-27:* "On the presentation of a verified petition by any person claiming to be entitled to such conveyance, assignment, transfer or delivery from an executor or administrator, setting forth the facts upon which the claim is predicated, the court or clerk must appoint a time and place for hearing the petition, which shall be upon notice."

*Section 75-11-29:* "If upon a hearing as hereinbefore provided the right of the petitioner to have a specific performance of the contract is found to be doubtful, the court must dismiss the petition without prejudice to the rights of the petitioner, *who may, at any time within six months thereafter, proceed by action to enforce specific performance thereof.*" (Emphasis supplied)

The foregoing statutory procedure provides the exclusive manner in which specific performance may be obtained in instances where a promisor has died. See *Free vs. Little*, 31 U 449, 88 Pac. 407, P. 463. In the *Free* case, this Court appropriately said:

"Appellants alleged in their answer, and it was admitted at the trial, that respondent presented no claim of any kind against the estate, nor did she in any way comply, or attempt to comply, with sections 3935 to 3940, Revised Statutes 1898, inclusive. These sections contained special provisions in respect to action for specific performance against deceased persons. The writing in this case sought to be enforced falls squarely within the provisions of the sections above referred to. Waiving, therefore, the question as to whether a claim should have



been presented under sections 3860 to 3874, Revised Statutes 1898, which we think, in view of the provisions of section 3935 et seq., above referred to. Those latter sections are intended to meet the very difficulties which have arisen in this case. . . .”

And in further explanation, it was announced:

P. 466: “Suppose it developed that specific performance should not be decreed, as is often the case upon a full hearing, but that the claimant had some right to damages, how are those damages to be adjusted out of the estate if it has been fully closed and final distribution has been made? If the claim stood merely as a legal one, in view that it never was presented as provided by law, it would be fully barred and no relief could be granted. Does it stand in a different light in equity under the provisions of sections 3935 to 3940, inclusive where no petition has ever been filed or claim made in the probate court? We think not. These sections, when we view and consider them, have the same effect upon claims for specific performance in requiring such claims to be brought to the attention of the probate court pending the administration of the estate that the preceding sections have upon other or purely legal claims. As to legal claims, the right is barred absolutely unless they are presented within the time fixed by these several sections unless the cause pointed out by the statute prevented presentation. This would be so whether the claims were matured or not, contingent or fixed. *In claims for specific performance, we think, and so hold, that, unless a petition is filed or claim is made in a court for specific performance within the time limited to file other claims, the claim for specific performance must be held to be waived or abandoned*, unless, as in other cases, good cause is shown why it could not be filed within the

time allowed for claims to be filed.” (Emphasis supplied)

Here, it is not controverted that the plaintiff failed to file any claim against the estate of C. F. Player and that he also failed to file a petition for specific performance as required by the foregoing sections. There seems to be no question then that the relief requested would be denied as a matter of statute if this property had passed to third parties or if it were still held in the estate as an undistributed asset or if it had passed to the defendant without her name appearing on the contract.

An inspection of the decree entered on P. 24 of Ex. 8 will disclose that claims against C. F. Player’s estate were required to be filed on or before the 1st day of April, 1953, and that distribution of the assets of the estate thereafter took place on May 6, 1953. In addition, no petition for specific performance was ever interposed. Consequently, and we quote again the language of the Free Case:

“ . . . the claim for specific performance must be waived or abandoned. . . . ”

It should be recognized in this regard that during probate, and considering that the decedent owned the fee interest in the property, the executrix of the estate held the entire interest in the property subject to the probate proceeding. It is of cardinal importance to note also that the interest of Mrs. Player only arose after she had made here election and only was perfected by way of and upon distribution. She took nothing which she possessed and agreed to sell under the provisions of the contract of February, 1942.

Consequently, the trial court, if it had ordered specific performance of the contract would have ordered Mrs. Player to convey something which she did not own and could not have conveyed in February, 1942, or at any time prior to distribution. Further, as a matter of statute and law, the plaintiff's rights were waived and abandoned by his failure to comply with the aforequoted statutory sections.

It necessarily follows that the result is not changed because Mrs. Player signed the original contract.

#### POINT IV.

THE PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO A PORTION OF THE PROPERTY BECAUSE HE FAILED TO EXERCISE THE OPTION IN THE CONTRACT.

The plaintiff argues under Point IV. of his brief that he is entitled to a portion of the premises because the contract contained a covenant which provided that *at his option* he could acquire title to one of the two tracts involved after he had paid a certain sum. There is no question that enough money was paid to enable the plaintiff to exercise his option and acquire the smaller parcel, but the mere existance of such an option does not compel the conveyance. Certain acts must be done to perfect the right such as notice of the election and request for the deed and an entry as provided in the contract.

It seems patently clear from this record that *such an election was never made* and that any rights under the covenant have been waived and abandoned in addition to being barred by the statutes hereinabove set forth. Of further significance is the failure of the plaintiff to intro-

duce one fact which would support a finding that the plaintiff had exercised the option.

This point raised by the plaintiff lacks legal significance in this review.

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